

Lehigh Valley Scholastic League

# Constitution and Bylaws

**2025-2026 Season**

8-11-2025

## **PREAMBLE**

- I. NAME AND PURPOSE**
- II. FISCAL YEAR**
- III. MEMBERSHIP**
- IV. BOARD OF DIRECTORS**
- V. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE**
- VI. AMENDMENTS TO THE BYLAWS**
- VII. VOTING PROCEDURES**
- VIII. LVSHL SANCTIONED COMMITTEES**
- IX. FINANCIAL ASSESSMENTS**
- X. PLAYING RULES**
- XI. PLAYER ROSTERS**
- XII. PLAYER ELIGIBILITY RULES**
- XIII. ILLEGAL USE OF PLAYERS**
- XIV. LVSHL PLAY AND SCHEDULE**
- XV. LVSHL PLAYOFFS/ALL STAR GAMES**
- XVI. APPEALS AND GRIEVANCES**
- XVII. RISK MANAGEMENT**
- XVIII. PURITY RULINGS**
- XIX. DIRECTOR OF OFFICIATING**
- XX. REVISION HISTORY**

## **PREAMBLE**

It is the intent of the Lehigh Valley Scholastic Hockey League to provide competition in the sport of ice hockey; to encourage good sportsmanship; to strive for better understanding of the sport; to provide an opportunity to develop mutual respect among players, the coaching staff, and the fans; to learn how to accept failure as well as success; and to preserve and cherish the memories of these competitive experiences.

### **I. NAME AND PURPOSE**

#### **A. Name**

1. This organization shall be known as the Lehigh Valley Scholastic Hockey League hereafter referred to as LVSHL.

#### **B. Purpose**

1. To administer a competitive ice hockey program for scholastic students without regard to sex, religion, or ethnic background; to foster among its participants, supporters, and club officials the understanding and adherence to the high levels of sportsmanship and conduct exemplified by the traditions and rules of USA Hockey, LVSHL, Flyers Cup, Phantom Cup and PIAA rules (as they apply); to coordinate standards with those school administrators who choose to be involved relative to eligibility, supervision, and safety of their participants; to maintain and foster among the public and interest in the sport of scholastic hockey; and to exercise a general care, supervision and control over the playing interest of its players and their teams.

### **II. FISCAL YEAR**

#### **A. Period**

1. The fiscal year shall begin on June 1 and end on May 31.

### **III. MEMBERSHIP**

#### **A. Class**

1. There shall be one (1) class of membership, all whose rights and interests are equal.

#### **B. Membership**

1. Membership shall be open to any public or parochial, scholastic hockey club, which agrees to abide by and comply with the rules of the LVSHL, and the decisions of the LVSHL officials, who have been elected or appointed to the Board of Directors.

2. Each school district shall be represented by one club. A school district shall be defined as all schools under the guidance of the same Superintendent.

a. Parochial and Private schools - Each school shall be represented by one club. A school shall be defined as all schools under the same guidance of a singular headmaster, dean, or board of governors and their established partner schools.

b. All Lehigh Valley schools under guidance of the Allentown Dioceses shall be 1 district.

### **C. Clubs**

1. Clubs shall be proposed for membership by a motion and admitted to membership upon a majority favorable vote by the Board of Directors.

### **D. Membership in Good Standing**

1. The following standards are hereby set forth for the express purpose of the definitive establishment of the term "Membership in Good Standing":

#### **a. Financial**

i. Payment to the LVSHL of annual dues (due at the Aug, meeting) and assessments shall be accomplished, on or before their respective due dates, as specified by the bylaws or by resolution of the Board of Directors.

ii. All fines and supplementary assessments shall be due within thirty (30) days to the Treasurer after the formal notification. Formal notification will consist of the Secretary reading to the membership all violations at the league meeting following the finding of the violation. Violations will be recorded in the meeting minutes. If a member club does not have a delegate at said meeting, the meeting minutes will be distributed no more than 72 hours after the meeting and the meeting minutes will act as official notification of violation. To ensure transparency, no fines or assessments can be assessed to any member club without formal notification at a league meeting where those will be a standing agenda item each month.

iii. Payment is defined as the actual receipt by the Treasurer of the LVSHL, of United States currency or bank check, for which sufficient funds are in the account, and shall be of an amount equal to or greater than, those fees due. If a check is returned for insufficient funds or any other reason, the member club must pay by money order or certified bank check and pay the returned check fee.

**b. General**

- i. Adherence to the precepts, regulations, and philosophies of the LVSHL as mandated by the bylaws.
  
- ii. LVSHL bylaws supersede any member clubs by laws, or the LVSHL bylaws conflict with higher body governance such as USA Hockey or PIAA rules. Then those will supersede LVSHL bylaws  
The penalties imposed for non-conformity to these standards are:

**c. Financial Penalties**

- i. Possible revocation of LVSHL membership, which may include withdrawal of voting rights, forfeiture of all games past-played, future prohibition from competition against or with any LVSHL registered member club, and revocation of all rights and privileges of membership which are expressed or implied by the bylaws and resolution(s) of the Board of Directors.
  
- ii. Reinstatement to membership shall be affected by actual payment to the Treasurer of the LVSHL, of the sum of money, equal to or greater than, the past due balance.

**d. General Penalties**

- i. Possible revocation of LVSHL membership which may include withdrawal of all voting rights, forfeiture of all team's games past-played, future prohibition from competition against or with any LVSHL member club, and revocation of rights and privileges of membership, which are expressed or implied by the resolutions of the Board of Directors.

**IV. BOARD OF DIRECTORS**

**A. Structure**

- 1. The LVSHL shall consist of a governing Board of Directors.

**B. Delegates**

- 1. Each registered member club shall appoint one (1) delegate and four (4) alternate delegates to exercise all its rights and duties as a member of the Board of Directors, according to its own procedures.
  - a. A list of each club's delegates shall be submitted to the Secretary of the LVSHL, in writing, at the regularly scheduled August meeting of the Board of Directors.

- b. Each registered member club shall retain the rights to remove or replace its individual delegates at any time and to appoint new representation.
  - c. It is the express and total responsibility of each club to forward written notice or email of its delegate and alternates or delegate changes involving its personnel to the Secretary of the LVSHL, prior to the next scheduled meeting of the LVSHL.
    - i. Delegates, alternates, or new representatives may attend Board of Director meetings, but will not be seated or allowed voting privileges until written notification has been satisfied.
2. Delegates can only represent one (1) LVSHL member club (Article IV, Section E).
  3. The Board of Directors shall strictly adhere to all adopted bylaws and have no power to waive any bylaw without a majority vote by the membership.

#### **C. Salary**

1. All LVSHL board members shall serve without salary from the LVSHL.

#### **D. Visitors**

1. Visitors are authorized access to any open meeting of the LVSHL and will be granted the privilege to speak only at the discretion of the President.
2. All visitors must sign the attendance sheet at each meeting.
3. Visitors shall be allowed ten (10) minutes (as monitored by the Executive Board members) to present their topic. At the discretion of the President, time allotted may be extended.

#### **E. Voting – General**

1. Each member club shall have one (1) vote on any motion.
  - a. A scholastic hockey club shall be considered as one and shall have one (1) vote on any motion.

#### **F. Voting – President**

1. The President of the LVSHL shall have voting privileges only in the event of breaking a tie vote.

#### **G. Voting – Specific Issues**

1. All business of the LVSHL shall be conducted by the Board of Directors and shall be adopted or defeated after a vote by the majority of its members.

#### **H. Quorum**

1. A quorum shall be defined as consisting of the delegates from the majority of the member clubs. Quorum is defined as 60% of all club members present.
2. A quorum shall be necessary to conduct the business of the Board of Directors.

#### **I. Meetings**

1. The LVSHL Board of Directors is required to meet at least one time monthly during the playing season of any fiscal year and on an as-needed basis to be determined by the President during the remainder of the year. Meeting attendance is mandatory (see Article IX, Section C). The delegate of any member club may request a special meeting, other than the monthly league meeting.
  - a. Topics must relate to the Board of Directors decisions and proposals.
  - b. Requests must be made in writing or email and presented to the Secretary of the LVSHL. Said requests must include name, address, phone number, and member club which is requesting the meeting, the purpose of the request, and who will be attending the meeting on behalf of the requester.
  - c. The Secretary shall make the proper arrangements and notifications within seven (7) business days before a meeting.

### **V. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OFFICERS**

#### **A. Structure**

1. The Executive Committee shall consist of the President, the Vice President, the Secretary, the Treasurer, Scheduler, and the Commissioners.
2. Service, as a member of the LVSHL Executive Committee, shall not be restricted to member club representatives.

#### **B. Authority**

1. The Executive Committee shall have the authority to make decisions and conduct the business of the Board of Directors only in an emergency.

#### **C. Election Procedures**

1. Nominations for Executive Committee Officers shall take place at the April meeting of the Board of Directors.
  - a. Nominations can be brought forward by member delegates of the LVSHL.
2. Elections for Executive Committee Officers shall take place at the May meeting of the Board of Directors; change of office shall be effective on June 1st.
  - a. No Executive Committee Officer shall concurrently hold more than one (1) elected office.
  - b. Voting for Executive Committee Officers is conducted by member club delegates of the LVSHL.
  - c. Voting procedures must be conducted by paper or blind ballot.
3. Clubs may not have more than one member on the Executive Board at one time unless the said positions are running unopposed.

#### **D. Removal of Officers**

1. The Board of Directors may remove an Executive Committee Officer from their respective office, whenever in its judgment the best interest of the LVSHL will be served. Thereby, but such removal shall be without prejudice to the contract rights, if any, of the person being removed.
2. Should removal occur or should an office become vacant by resignation, the remaining members of the Executive Committee shall assume the responsibilities of that office until the Board of Directors vote to fill the vacancy.
3. Should removal be deemed, a majority vote of the Board of Directors would be required at a monthly board meeting, or specially called meeting.

#### **E. President**

1. The President shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the LVSHL, and Chairman of the Board of Directors.
2. The President shall preside at the meetings of the Board of Directors, and of the Executive Committee, and have the general and active management of the LVSHL; and shall see that all orders and resolutions of the Executive Committee and the Board of Directors are carried into effect.
3. The President shall appoint the Chairperson of all committees except those Committee Chairpersons specifically designated by the bylaws.

4. The President shall be elected for a term of one (1) year but will be eligible for re-election. The President shall execute all contracts under the seal of the LVSHL, except where permitted, or required by law to be otherwise signed and executed, and except where the signing and execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board of Directors to some other agent of the LVSHL.
5. The President shall attend to all pertinent inter-league issues and must represent the LVSHL in all inter-league functions.
6. The President shall serve as a member, ex-officio, of all sanctioned Committees of the LVSHL with the privilege to speak, but not to vote except for a tie (see Article IV, Section F).
7. The President shall oversee completing the season game schedule.

#### **F. Vice President**

1. The Vice President shall, in the absence or disability of the President, perform the duties and exercise the powers of the President.
2. The Vice President shall be elected for one (1) year but will be eligible for re-election.
3. The Vice President shall appoint the disciplinary panel when needed.

#### **G. Secretary**

1. The Secretary shall attend all sessions of the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee and record the votes of the LVSHL and the minutes of all transactions and proceedings. The Secretary shall give notice of all regularly scheduled or special meetings of the Board of Directors.
2. The Secretary shall keep a list of the participating members of the LVSHL.
3. The Secretary shall maintain supplies for the LVSHL forms and be responsible for their distribution.
4. The Secretary shall distribute to the members of good standing the list of sanctioned or standing committees and their membership, the rosters of all the member clubs, and the list of the members of the Board of Directors.
5. These lists will be initially completed, after all information has been rendered to the Secretary for publication.
6. Updates will be provided on an as-needed basis.
7. The Secretary shall be elected for one (1) year but is eligible for re-election.
8. A report on Player Placements, Petitions and Supplementals will be submitted in each month's minutes.

## **H. Treasurer**

1. The Treasurer shall have custody of the LVSHL funds and shall keep full and accurate electronic accounts of receipts and disbursements in the books belonging to the LVSHL.
2. The Treasurer shall deposit all receipts, in the name of and to the credit of the LVSHL in the depositories as designated by the Board of Directors.
3. The Treasurer shall disburse the funds of the LVSHL.
4. The Treasurer shall render to the Secretary at the regular meetings of the Board of Directors, or whenever it may be required, an accounting of all transactions as Treasurer and the financial conditions of the LVSHL.
5. An electronic copy of this accounting shall become part of the minutes.
6. The Executive Committee shall audit the books and records of the LVSHL prior to the new fiscal year.
7. The Treasurer shall prepare a proposed budget to be submitted for the approval of the Board of Directors, prior to the start of play of each new season.
8. The Treasurer shall supply a monthly invoice to each member club that shall include their monthly and yearly balances.
9. The monthly invoice will also include any fines, date fine was issued and reason for fine.
10. The Treasurer shall report to the President, prior to the next regularly scheduled meeting, any clubs that are financially delinquent.
11. The Treasurer shall serve for one (1) year but is eligible for re-election.

## **I. Varsity and JV Commissioner**

1. The Commissioner shall be responsible for all matters pertaining to conduct, deportment, and behavior of the officials, coaches, parents, players, and spectators; and for determining the necessary disciplinary action to be invoked and issuing notice of such decisions to the Board of Directors, and to the respective individuals involved; and for declaration of forfeited games, or suspensions as required or suggested by the bylaws. The Commissioner will also verify USA Hockey T-1 Forms/Links as submitted by the Secretary.
2. The Commissioner must make a ruling within seventy-two (72) hours of an incident.
3. If 72 hours expires, the Vice President will appoint a committee of three (3) delegates in good standing (not to include the team in question) and they shall make a ruling within 48 hours.

4. If the conflict occurs with a team the Vice President represents, appointment of the disciplinary committee defers to the commissioner.
5. In the event of conflicting interests in which the Commissioner is involved with the team in question, the Commissioner's responsibilities shall be transferred to the three (3) delegates in good standing, as appointed by the Vice President.
6. The Commissioner of each division will review any forfeited games by any member club, and fines, if any, will be governed by the Commissioner, as indicated in section IX.
7. The commissioner of each division will also make a report weekly, if need be, summarizing game penalties and suspensions as indicated in section X. C #3 & 5
8. The Commissioner shall serve for one (1) year but is eligible for re-election.

#### **J. Middle School and Youth Commissioner**

1. The Commissioner shall be responsible for all matters pertaining to conduct, deportment, and behavior of the officials, coaches, parents, players, and spectators; and for determining the necessary disciplinary action to be invoked and issuing notice of such decisions to the Board of Directors, and to the respective individuals involved; and for declaration of forfeited games, or suspensions as required or suggested by the bylaws. The Commissioner will also verify USA Hockey T-1 Forms/Links as submitted by the Secretary.
2. The Commissioner must make a ruling within seventy-two (72) hours of an incident.
3. If 72 hours expires, the Vice President will appoint a committee of three (3) delegates in good standing (not to include the team in question) and they shall make a ruling within 48 hours.
4. If the conflict occurs with a team the Vice President represents, appointment of the disciplinary committee defers to the commissioner.
5. In the event of conflicting interests in which the Commissioner is involved with the team in question, the Commissioner's responsibilities shall be transferred to the three (3) delegates in good standing, as appointed by the Vice President.
6. The Commissioner of each division will review any forfeited games by any member club, and fines, if any, will be governed by the Commissioner, as indicated in section IX.
7. The commissioner of each division will also make a report weekly, if need be, summarizing game penalties and suspensions as indicated in section X. C #3 & 5
8. The Commissioner shall serve for one (1) year but is eligible for re-election.

## **K. Scheduler**

1. The Scheduler shall be responsible for the booking, creation and updating of the master ice schedule for all league game ice for all teams involved in the LVSHL in accordance with the LVSHL By-laws.
2. The Scheduler shall be responsible for the contact and scheduling with the established referee association that provides officiating to all LVSHL games.
3. The Scheduler shall be elected for one (1) year but is eligible for re-election.
4. If no one is nominated for this position, the responsibilities fall to the President.

## **VI. AMENDMENTS TO THE BYLAWS**

### **A. Voting on Amendments**

1. This Constitution and bylaws may be amended with reading of the proposed bylaw at the April meeting and voted on at the May meeting only, by a majority favorable vote of the Board of Directors who are present, and at which a quorum exists.

### **B. Procedures**

1. All proposed changes or amendments must be submitted to the Secretary of the LVSHL in writing or email by delegates of member clubs and must include their name, address, phone number, and exact wording of the proposed amendment, to be submitted by the March 1.
2. The first reading of the change or amendment shall be without comment to their contents distributed to member clubs at the April meeting.
3. At the May meeting of the LVSHL, the proposed changes or amendments will then be read, with a time period to be determined by the President, allocated for discussion purposes.
  - a. The proposed changes or amendments may then be amended and voted upon and shall become a regulation or rule of the Constitution and bylaws by a majority favorable vote of the Board of Directors.
  - b. A "season" amendment CHANGE can be made only at the September meeting, by unanimous vote. The proposed amendment must be submitted in writing at the August Meeting for a vote at the September meeting.

## **VII. VOTING PROCEDURES**

### **A. Voting**

1. Voting on motion(s) and proposed bylaw changes shall be conducted by a voice vote of member club delegates and shall be taken by the Secretary of the LVSHL, at the instructions of the President.
2. The vote record will become part of the minutes.
3. Any motion(s), bylaw changes, and/or elections can be voted on by secret ballot or roll call vote at the discretion of the President.
4. All motions must be duly seconded.
5. All motions must have a majority vote to be approved.

## **VIII. LVSHL SANCTIONED COMMITTEES**

### **A. Reporting**

1. Standing committees shall, at the regularly scheduled meeting of the LVSHL, be required to give a report on committee activities to the Board of Directors.

### **B. Sanctioned Committees**

1. LVSHL sanctioned committees shall be utilized on an as-needed basis.

#### **2. Disciplinary Committee**

- a. Disciplinary Committee shall be appointed by the Vice President.
- b. The Disciplinary Committee shall consist of delegates of three (3) member clubs in good standing not involved in said incident.
- c. If the conflict occurs with a team the Vice President represents, appointment of the disciplinary committee defers to the commissioner.
- d. A typed written report of the proceedings shall be rendered to the Secretary of the LVSHL within forty-eight (48) hours of the decision of the committee.
- e. The report will be forwarded to the parties involved in the decision.

#### **3. Player Placement Committee**

- a. The Player Placement Committee shall consist of 3 neutral parties (clubs not in placement) to coordinate placing players at the Varsity level. (Article XVIII). The President shall act as the mediator throughout this process.
- b. The Player Placement Committee shall determine the method of evaluation and/or placement of varsity players that desire to play in the LVSHL but do not attend member schools.

#### **4. Joseph Orecchio Memorial Scholarship Fund Committee**

- a. The committee shall have a minimum of three (3) members and shall be appointed at the August league meeting. Applications will be taken up to January 31.

### **IX. FINANCIAL ASSESSMENTS**

#### **A. Fee Payment and Assessment Schedule**

1. All clubs that request to compete in the LVSHL for the next fiscal year shall be responsible for adhering to the following fee payment and assessment schedule:
  - a. New Member Clubs (defined as clubs which have not played a complete schedule during the prior season) shall have an initial payment requirement of two hundred fifty dollars (\$250.00) for each team entered at any level which will be credited against the last installment of League fees and is due at the August meeting.
    - i. Should a new club make application and be rejected for membership, the fee will be refunded.
    - ii. Should a new club make application and be accepted and then withdraw from play, the fee is not refundable.
  - b. The initial payment requirement for an established club is one hundred dollars (\$100.00) for each team entered at any level, which will be credited against the last installment of LVSHL fees and is due at the August meeting.
    - i. Should an established club make an application and be accepted and then withdraw from play, the fee is not refundable and will be made as a donation to the Orecchio Fund.
2. Each team shall be invoiced in equal payments as determined by the Board of Directors. Payments will be due Oct., Nov., Dec., and Jan.
  - a. Invoiced amounts will be determined by the cost established in the budget and divided by the number of teams at each level.

## **B. Game Receipts**

1. Each club will pay a fee of \$100 to the Orrechio Fund.
2. All entrance fees at any playoff or championship game shall be the responsibility of the home team to collect at the door except any games at the PPL Center. All collected entrance fees at playoff and championship games shall revert to the LVSHL treasury.

## **C. Fines**

1. A fifty-dollar (\$50.00) fine shall be assessed to each member club for each LVSHL Board of Director meeting that is not represented by the delegate or an alternate.
  - a. Payment of this fine is required prior to the next regularly scheduled Board of Directors meeting (Article III Section D).
  - b. Failure to pay the assessment will result in the loss of voting privileges until the fine is paid.
2. The Commissioner of each division will review any forfeited games by any member club, and fines will be at the discretion of the Commissioner.
  - a. The forfeiting team shall pay the LVSHL the cost of ice and official fees. The forfeiting team will also pay the non-forfeiting team an additional cost of fees.
3. It is the home team's responsibility to turn in the score sheets to the appropriate designated place and upload the game statistics to the league website within forty-eight (48) hours of the end of the game, or a fine of fifty dollars (\$50.00) will be levied against the home team.

## **4. Senior Bond / Fines**

- a. Each member club is responsible for paying its own Senior Bond violation as defined in 4 b.
  - b. In the event of a single or multiple game misconduct or match penalty incurred by a senior player which cannot be served during the season or post season, the member club shall be assessed a two hundred- & fifty-dollar (\$250.00) fine per incident with a maximum of \$500.00.
  - c. Payment of this fine is required prior to the start of the next LVSHL season.
  - d. Failure to pay this assessment will result in the loss of voting privileges until paid.
  - e. The assessment may be appealed to the Commissioner.
5. For any violation of the bylaws in which a fine is not listed, the fine shall be \$50.00.

#### **D. Financial Delinquency**

1. Member clubs that are one (1) month or more financially delinquent during the LVSHL season shall be subject to forfeiture of any remaining games and are subject to conditions of the “Members in Good Standing” section of the bylaws until payment is brought current. All fees are due by January 31st.

#### **E. Outside Game Responsibility**

1. Any games played outside of the LVSHL schedule are the financial responsibility of said teams, including ice and referee fees excluding Flyers Cup Games.

#### **F. Add/Drop Deadline**

1. Adding or dropping a team in any division after September 1st will result in a \$500.00 fine to the club.

#### **G. Black Out Dates:**

1. All Black Out Dates for games must be submitted to the Scheduler by September 1st.
  - a. Maximum of **3** blackout dates per team. Tournament weekends are already tracked by the league scheduler as listed here: (Columbus Day, Thanksgiving, Christmas, New Years, MLK Weekend Presidents Day Weekend, and St Patrick’s Day weekend).
  - b. Black Out Date examples: High school and Middle School dances, Proms and other school events that may conflict with your team’s schedule.

### **X. PLAYING RULES**

#### **A. Ice Rinks**

1. No league games shall be played at any ice rink that has not been approved for play by the Executive Committee.
2. Approved Rinks: Bethlehem Municipal Rink, Steel Ice Center, and the PPL Center.

#### **B. Governing Rules**

1. All league play shall be governed by the Playing Rules of USA Hockey, as modified by the LVSHL rulings listed in this section.
2. All teams must be rostered with USA Hockey, at or by October 1.
  - a. A USA Hockey T-1 form for all teams must be emailed by sharing the USA Hockey link to the League Secretary before but not later than the October LVSHL meeting.

(Note: These will not be distributed to member clubs).

- b. All LVSHL Rosters will be gathered electronically by the Secretary and distributed via a shared cloud drive to all club reps by the start of the first game for each division.
  - i. Supplemental rosters will also be saved in the shared cloud drive to confirm roster changes and or updates.

### **C. Penalties and Suspensions**

1. Any suspensions not served during the current regular playing season shall be carried over to the following season and will be served at the level and team rostered at the current season.
2. Any player or coach receiving a game misconduct shall be suspended for the next scheduled LVSHL game at the level which it occurred.
  - a. If any player incurs four (4) misconducts/game misconducts, there will be an automatic one (1) game suspension. Six (6) misconducts results in another game suspension and the player will appear before the Executive Committee. Per season.
3. A player or coach receiving a suspension must have his/her name and players jersey number annotated on the score sheet and signed by the suspended player or coach for each game of the suspension, prior to the start of the game in which the suspension is being served, in the proper section of the game sheet, otherwise the game will be deemed not to be served.
4. Any player or players involved in fighting will be immediately ejected from the game and must leave the arena area. If a player continues to get involved in any further disturbance, further disciplinary action could incur, which could include and up to a forfeit of the game by the involved players team.
  - a. The player(s) will serve a one (1) game suspension for the first offense in the same season.
  - b. A second fighting infraction in the same season will result in a three (3) game suspension.
  - c. Repeat offenders will be suspended until further review by the Board of Directors.
5. Any suspended player or coach may not participate in any capacity in a game or as an off-ice official or be on the bench, in the penalty box, or scorers' area or perform any other team function.
6. Penalty duration: (defined by USA Hockey rules)
  - a. Youth – Minor & Major penalty minutes will reflect guidelines from USA Hockey at U10 Level.

7. Any coach who receives more than one (1) game misconduct per season shall be subject to additional disciplinary action as determined by the Board of Directors.

#### **D. Playing Time**

##### 1. Game times

- a. Varsity – 3 periods at 17 minutes each / 2-minute penalties
- b. JV – 3 periods at 17 minutes each / 2-minute penalties
- c. MS – 3 periods at 16 minutes each / 1:30 minute penalties
- d. Youth – 3 periods at 13 minutes each / 1:30 minute penalties

2. The ice slot for all Varsity, JV and MS games shall be 1.5 hours and 75 minutes for all Youth games. If the game has a curfew, at the beginning of the third period, there is less than 1/3 of the ice time remaining (left to the discretion of the Rink), the game officials shall divide the time left by two and that shall be the time played in the third period.

- a. Referee's will adjust the game clock at the start of the third (3rd) period for game time allotment, exception would be the third (3rd) period running over game time allotment, at which time the clock will be adjusted during the third (3rd) period.

- b. Playoff games will be played to a decision regardless of elapsed time.

- c. The All-Star game will end two (2) hours after the ice is available.

- d. An ice cut shall be done between the 2nd and 3rd periods of all varsity playoff games, championship games and the all-star game.

3. All Youth games shall consist of three (13) thirteen-minute stop Clock periods with a one-minute break between periods, To USA guidelines for Squirt Level.

4. A game will not be official unless two (2) full periods are played.

- a. Should a game be suspended prior to the completion of the second period, that game shall not be declared official.

- b. The suspended game shall be rescheduled at the earliest available date, resuming play at the point where it was suspended, with all statistics being counted and credited to the teams and the individual players.

- c. Only those players eligible to participate in the rescheduled suspended game will have been rostered on the original score sheet.

5. In the event of extraordinary circumstances such as an auto accident, hazardous road

conditions, loss of ice surface due to rink equipment problems, etc., a game may be postponed by the rink management and/or President.

- a. The President or Scheduler is to notify the teams involved one and one half (1 ½) hours prior to game time, provided it is reasonable so.
  - b. All postponed games shall be rescheduled through the President or Scheduler as soon as possible or no later than the next league meeting. It is the responsibility of the home team to coordinate with the away team for the rescheduling of the game and then notify the President or Scheduler.
6. Running Clock: VARSITY, JV and MIDDLE SCHOOL ONLY When one team is ahead by six (6) goals or more at the conclusion of the second period of play during a Varsity, JV, or Middle School game a running clock will be used for the third period. The clock shall only be stopped at the discretion of the officials for exigent circumstances (for example, an injured player).
- a. If in the third period, the team behind by 6 goals brings the goal margin back to under six (6) goals, then the clock stoppages shall resume until such time as the goal spread would again return to the six (6) goal differential.
  - b. Youth games DO NOT have a running clock.

## E. Score Sheets

1. The Home team will be responsible for providing properly instructed personnel to operate the clock, electronic stats and fill in, and finalize the scoresheet.
  - a. The team coach or manager shall enter players name on the iPad if using electronic scoring.
  - b. An alternative or back up handprinted copy with each player's name on the score sheet, or place labels on all four (4) copies.
    - i. Scratched players must report to the score box when entering the game.
    - ii. Any player playing up a level at any time, must have their original rostered level indicated on the scoresheet.
  - c. USA Hockey rules shall apply in the case of additional players being added to the roster after commencement of a game.
2. A team's head coach or a designated assistant coach (if head coach is not in attendance) must sign the score sheet at the end of the game to validate the accuracy of the roster.

- a. The head coach shall also attest, by their signature, to the accuracy of the statistics at the end of each game.
  - b. The head coach shall also be responsible for any team penalties that are incurred during game play.
3. Referees who do not attest to the completeness and accuracy of the score sheet after the completion of the game by their signature or who do not print their name on the appropriate line of the score sheet will be subject to disciplinary action by the local official of USA Hockey.
- a. The home team must verbally verify officials' names before the game begins.
4. It is the home team's responsibility to turn in the score sheets to the appropriate designated place in each arena and enter the data on the league website within forty-eight (48) hours or a fine of fifty dollars (\$50.00) will be levied against the home team. The Secretary shall review the fine at the next league meeting as a matter of record for collection by the Treasurer.
5. All score sheets will be four (4) ply and must be distributed to the appropriate parties within forty-eight (48) hours of the completion of the game.
- a. The top two (2) pages of the score sheets are intended for the LVSHL Secretary and the Commissioner.
  - b. The bottom two (2) pages of the score sheets are intended for the participating teams.

## **F. Game Music / Entertainment**

1. Music is reserved for the home team to play at games (if no band is present).
2. Music and/or bands playing at any game must stop playing when game play is resumed.
3. Bands from each team at games may alternate playing at each stoppage of play during playoffs.
4. Failure to abide by these rules: (1) warning from the referees. (2) assessed a delay of game on offending team. (3) Forfeit of game.

## **G. Referees**

1. Each LVSHL game requires at least two (2) referees per game who have credentials which meet the current requirements and specifications of USA Hockey.
2. If only one (1) referee is available by game time, play of that game is at the mutual coaches' consent.
  - a. Games postponed due to the lack of referees shall be rescheduled by the President.
  - b. The Board of Directors shall be responsible for taking any additional actions in case of

postponement.

3. Any player or coach representing any team in the LVSHL is not eligible to serve as a referee or linesman of any varsity LVSHL game involving any teams of their division until after a full two (2) year term has expired, unless approved by the Board of Directors.
  - a. Any player or coach representing any team in the LVSHL is eligible to serve as a referee or linesman of a JV, Middle School, or Youth LVSHL game, unless either game participant is the club to which they are or have been affiliated.
  - b. In the event, an ineligible referee is appointed, play of game with that referee is at the coaches' discretion. Once agreed upon, that decision to play is final and the game shall not be protested.
  - c. The coaches may also elect to play said game with only one referee.

#### **H. Coaches**

1. All Coaches must complete Safe Sport by the October LVSHL meeting. All coaches must have the proper background checks completed prior to taking part in any LVSHL activity. The burden to monitor this shall be with each individual Club and organization. All coaches in the LVSHL must have credentials that meet the required minimum level standards for the specific position as required by USA Hockey Certification, the LVSHL and the Atlantic District.
2. USA Hockey Coach Certifications and Age Specific Modules must be completed by December 31. Coaches must complete the module to the oldest player on your team.
3. CEP Reports are to be submitted to the LVSHL's appropriate commissioner by the January LVSHL meeting.

#### **XI. PLAYER ROSTERS**

##### **A. Team Eligibility**

1. To declare a team at any level, a team roster shall consist of not less than eight (8) players.
  - a. If a varsity of team does not have a goaltender, they may opt to come to Player Placement for a goalie.
2. To qualify as a pure team, the team that is declaring such must have 100% resident school participation.
3. To qualify as a non-pure team, the team that is declaring such must have fifty percent (50%) resident school participation unless otherwise approved by the Board of Directors.

**B. Merged Teams** (*defined as ONLY 2 teams combining to form one team at all levels*).

1. To be eligible to merge at any level with another team, both teams must have a merged team of not less than 8 players. Further defined as one team with 4 players and one team with 4 players and a goalie.

**C. School District Combination Teams**

1. School districts combining as a team need to be approved on a yearly basis to merge and must declare that they are merging no later than the August LVSHL meeting.

**D. Playing Rosters**

1. Each member team or affiliated member shall file with the Secretary of LVSHL by October 1, a team roster on forms provided by the LVSHL which shall list the name, date of birth, school attended, school district, grade in school, and jersey number of each player. All levels must include travel players on their team with the travel team they play for and at what level each player is playing at.
2. Roster additions and deletions must be made in writing or email on the LVSHL Supplemental Roster, to the league secretary, twenty-four (24) hours prior to that player's first game.
  - a. Player additions must show the information required on the original roster and must be certified.
  - b. Non-Pure roster additions see Player Placement (Article VIII Section B Item 5: Article XII Section B Item 2).
3. The rosters must contain a certification from the member club delegate, that every player is legally rostered on their team.
  - a. The delegate's signature on the overall team roster will be accepted as certification, but should these be misrepresented, with or without the knowledge of the team delegate, that team will forfeit all games played or be punished at the discretion of the LVSHL.
4. Member clubs may not add players to teams beyond December 31.
5. All Teams shall have a home (light) jersey and an away (dark) jersey for each player. The players' jersey number shall be the same for both their home and away jersey. No two players from the same team shall have the same rostered jersey number. Each player shall be permitted one (1) violation of this rule without penalty. Unless a special exemption is approved by the LVSHL.

## **E. Withdrawals, Suspensions**

1. Players who become ineligible by reason of withdrawal, or suspension from school may not thereafter participate in play during the period of ineligibility.

## **F. Transfers**

1. Players who transfer into a member club, who have been registered and rostered with USA Hockey, may be rostered with that member club within the provisions of Section XI-B, C, and D.
2. Players who are transferring school districts within the member clubs of the LVSHL, during the season, must have release from the team whom they are originally rostered.
3. If a player moves to a school district that does not field a team at the appropriate level, they must stay with their current team for the duration of the season.

## **G. Playoff Eligibility**

1. Varsity and Junior Varsity: Except goaltenders, players must be rostered, and have played in at least one-half (1/2) of the season plus one (1) of the team's LVSHL games to qualify for LVSHL playoffs. Middle School and Youth: Except goaltenders, players must be rostered, and have played in at least three games that season in their respective division to qualify for LVSHL playoffs.
  - a. Verification will be by player's names recorded on score sheets.
2. Varsity Goaltenders must have been properly rostered, at least present on the bench, dressed, and rostered on the score sheets for at least five (5) regular season games. Junior Varsity, Middle School, and Youth goaltenders must have played in (1) regular season game in their respective division to qualify for LVSHL playoffs.
3. If a player becomes injured and therefore cannot fulfill the game minimum for playoff eligibility, the player must have been properly rostered and must have played at least one (1) regular season game before the leave of absence.
  - a. Goaltenders must have at least been on the bench, dressed, and rostered on the score sheet, for at least one (1) regular season game before the player's leave of absence.
4. Regarding playoff eligibility of any player or goaltender, the voting members of the Board of Directors may question, review, and/or determine the status of any player or goaltender with the league commissioner.
5. When a player has an injury where participation is impossible in order to satisfy the minimum game requirement, that player, in order to participate in LVSHL playoffs, must petition the Board of Directors in writing and receive a medical release in order to be considered eligible.

6. Games that a player is suspended for shall not count towards playoff eligibility as a game played.

## H. Game Rosters

1. Accurate starting rosters for each team are to be submitted to the scorekeeper prior to the start of the game to be played.
2. The coach's signature on the score sheet will be accepted as certification of the team roster but should these be misrepresented with or without knowledge of the coach, the coach may receive a one-year suspension upon Board review and the player(s) eligibility will be reviewed by the Board of Directors.
  - a. If the team roster is misrepresented, it should be noted on the scoresheet and brought to the attention of the appropriate commissioner. As referenced in section X, article E.
3. The head coach must sign the left side of the score sheet before play begins and sign the right side of the score sheet at the end of the game.

## XII. PLAYER ELIGIBILITY RULES

### A. Age/Grade Eligibility

1. Varsity
  - a. A player may not be 19 years of age or older before September 1st of the current season to compete at the Varsity level.
  - b. A player will be eligible for the Varsity level for a period of four (4) successive years after commencement of 9th grade.
  - c. Any player that has not reached the 9th grade may not play in a varsity game.
  - d. Any 11th grader must play at the varsity level unless a petition is submitted to the Varsity / JV Commissioner for approval
  - e. Any player wishing to be placed on a Varsity team after the conclusion of the player placement event must be approved by the majority of the board of directors.
  - f. All 9th and 10th grade players who re not going to be on a JV roster must be listed on their teams Varsity roster with the exception of girls only playing on senior night.
2. Junior Varsity
  - a. Players will be eligible for JV level in grades 9-12 upon consent and review of the player by the Varsity/JV commissioner unless they previously rostered on a varsity team.
  - b. 10th grade players who will not be playing Varsity hockey do not need to be included on the league Varsity roster

### 3. Middle School

- a. A player will be eligible to participate at the Middle School level provided that they are not older than fourteen (14) years of age on September 1 of the current season.
- b. A player will be eligible for Middle School level for grades 8th, 7th, and 6th.
- c. 5th graders are eligible to play Middle School but are not required.
- d. Rostered 8th grade AA & AAA players are not eligible to play Middle School and must play at the JV level.
- e. Rostered 5th grade AA and AAA players are not eligible to play at the youth level but are eligible to play Middle School.

### 4. Youth

- a. A player will be eligible to participate at the Youth level provided that they are not older than eleven (11) years of age on September 1 of the current season.
- b. A player will be eligible for Youth level grades 5 and lower.
- c. Any team that knows prior to a game that they cannot roster a full team to play at the Youth level can request non-travel players from another youth team to play in the game they will be short players in the game.

### 5. Petitions

- a. All players shall adhere to the above listed age and grade restrictions unless a petition is submitted to the board and approved.
- b. First year players with no previous USA Hockey player registration will be allowed for petitioning down. Anyone beyond one year must be evaluated by the appropriate commissioner.
- c. Any player petitioned to play down must stay at that level and cannot play up at the next level until the next season, unless evaluated by the commissioner and deemed ready for the upper level.
  - i. Any senior playing down may play for their senior night varsity game only.

### 6. A player may only be rostered on one team. Player may not play on another team except for goalies.

- a. Example: a player is rostered on team "x" white, he cannot play with team "x" black at the same time in the same season.

## **B. Varsity Players**

- 1. A varsity player must play for the school or school district for which they are enrolled and attending

classes if there is a member club. If no member club exists, then reverts to school district they live in.

- a. A player that plays for a member club may only play on one (1) team for that club, at the same level, except in the case of a goaltender, as outlined in Article XII, Section A.11.
- b. If a player has been with a club for 3 or more years and does not attend a school that has a team, they may choose to stay with that team.
- c. Varsity players player's finishing their classes mid-year, are still eligible to with their club up until their class graduation.
- d. Player's graduating year early need to be voted on a case-by-case basis by league vote.
- e. Player's graduating cyber/virtual school will need to be voted on as a need basis by majority league vote.

2. **Player Placement:** In the event, that a player does not attend a school that currently fields a varsity team in the LVSHL, the player must notify the Player Placement Committee of his/her interest in participating.

- a. A player placement pool date will be decided at the August board meeting with the ice time to give players a fair amount of time to make the player placement date.
- b. The Player Pool is for all varsity players that attend a school that does not have a team already.
- c. There will be a \$25 fee assessed to each participant that enters the ice surface for the Player Placement. This fee must be paid prior to entering the ice surface. The \$25 will be credited to the league fees of the respective club that attains the rights to this player.
- d. A player placement form must be filled out and presented at the player placement event. This form will be available on the LVSHL website.
  - i. If a player cannot make the player placement event a form must be submitted to the league secretary prior to being placed.
- e. A player that transfers into the LVSHL area can be placed by the Executive Committee.
  - i. Proof of school transfer must be provided to be eligible.
- f. The rights to a placed player remain with the placed Team at the Varsity level the player was placed, or until the school that the player attends enter a team in the LVSHL, or the placed Team opts to field a pure team, or the placed Team drops out of the LVSHL.
- g. When a player is added after placement, a message with all the information should be sent

to the secretary to be put in the minutes.

3. Teams that need players at the varsity level must attend the August LVSHL Meeting.
  - a. Teams attending the player pool, must be represented by a delegate or coach.
  - b. Teams/Delegate attending the player pool must have a copy of their current year varsity roster, which will have at least 8 players.
  - c. Any team that is not represented at the player placement pool date forfeits any rights to place a player on their team that does not attend their school, there will be no exceptions to this rule.
  - d. Any team participating in the pool shall not be allowed to make any roster additions after the player placement pool date unless approved by the league commissioner.
    - i. Merged teams can only accept players at Player Placement if all other teams deny players.
  - e. **Placement Process:** The allocation of players from the pool will be based upon total quantity of Varsity eligible players. The Placement date selection order is determined by the roster with the lowest number of players to the highest and remains that way for the season.
  - f. **Player Placement Deadline date:** Dec 31<sup>st</sup>.
  - g. **Player Placement Committee** – (3 members) from teams/clubs not in Player Placement are responsible for assigning players to teams, as well as monitor ongoing placement rotation.

### **C. Junior Varsity**

1. A JV player must play for the school for which they are attending or the school district that they live in.
2. Players in the 9th grade and above that still have JV eligibility who attend school that has a participating LVSHL club must play for the corresponding JV team if it exists.
3. Any JV Team with an excess of 20 players may opt to release a player to any other team.
4. A properly registered JV player may play at the varsity level only in the school district they are enrolled in.

***Example** – the Bethlehem School District (Liberty and Freedom) and their appropriate feeder*

*school.*

- a. The player must meet the eligibility requirements for varsity teams.
  - b. The player will be deemed varsity level after playing greater than 50% of the varsity games in one season for the following season regardless of what JV team they are playing for in the event their school does not have a JV team.
5. A JV goaltender may move up to varsity and sit on the bench in a backup capacity for as many games as the team will allow, subject to Article XII section A and B and these games will not count against him if he does not play.
- a. A JV goaltender may participate in an unlimited amount of varsity games, regardless of duration and or team.
    - i. The goaltender will be deemed varsity level after the 10th game with minutes played.
  - b. In the event a varsity team loses its goaltender due to injury, suspension, transfer, etc., and does not have either a backup goaltender or a JV goaltender, any LVSHL rostered JV goaltender may fill in on a rotational basis, as determined by the Commissioner.
    - i. If a Varsity goaltender is injured for more than (9) nine games, the member club may petition the Board of Directors to play their JV goaltender, provided that they meet Varsity eligibility requirements, at the Varsity level for as many games as the Varsity goalie is injured, without jeopardizing the JV goaltender's JV status.
    - ii. JV goaltenders can be rotated so as not to jeopardize their JV status.
    - iii. JV goaltenders playing Varsity and JV cannot play against their own home club or organization at the JV or Varsity level, for both regular season and the playoffs.

#### **D. Middle School**

1. A player will be eligible to participate at the Middle School level if they are not older than fourteen (14) years of age by September 1, of the current season.
2. A Middle School player must play for the school or school district for which they are attending or the school district that they live in if the member club has a team.

***Example*** – *the Bethlehem School District (Liberty and Freedom) and their appropriate feeder school.*

3. A properly registered middle school player may play at the JV level if:

- a. The player must meet the eligibility requirements for JV teams.
4. A Middle School goaltender may move up to JV and sit on the bench in a backup capacity for as many games as the team will allow, subject to Article XII Section A and C.
    - a. A Middle School goaltender may participate in a maximum of ten (10) JV games, regardless of duration and or team.
      - i. The player will be deemed JV level after playing in greater than 50% of the JV games and the team will be required to meet the criteria as described in Article XII Section A and C.
  5. If a team is without a goaltender, a LVSHL rostered Middle School goaltender may fill in on a rotational basis, as determined by the Commissioner.
    - a. Middle School goaltenders can be rotated between middle school levels without jeopardizing their Middle School status.

## **E. Youth**

1. A player will be eligible to participate at the Youth level provided that they are not older than eleven (11) years of age by September 1st, of the current season.
  - a. Students younger than 3rd grade may be petitioned to the Board of Directors, through the correct procedure outlined in these Bylaws, to play at the youth level.
2. A Youth player must play for the school or school district for which they are attending or the school district that they live in if the member club has a team.

***Example*** – the Bethlehem School District (Liberty and Freedom) and their appropriate feeder school.

3. A youth player will be deemed Middle School level after playing in greater than 50% of the Middle School games and the team will be required to meet the criteria as described in Article XII Section A and C.

## **XIII. ILLEGAL USE OF PLAYERS**

### **A. Rules**

1. A team that uses an ineligible or illegal player in a LVSHL game shall forfeit that game and the team, player, and coach shall be subjected to such additional penalties as may be imposed by the Commissioner. Forfeiting team shall pay ice/official fees to the non-forfeiting team.

- a. If a game is forfeited due to an ineligible or illegal player, all other player's personal statistics shall remain valid except for those of the ineligible or illegal player.

#### **XIV. LVSHL PLAY AND SCHEDULE**

##### **A. Regular Season**

1. All member teams shall play all other member teams at least once during the regular season in their respected divisions, with the remainder of LVSHL games to be scheduled by the League Scheduler as established by the Board of Directors.
  - a. The total number of LVSHL games at all levels for any given season shall be determined by the Board of Directors at the regularly scheduled August meeting.
  - b. No player at the Youth or Middle School Level may score more than 3 goals in a single game. Any goals after the 3rd from any individual player goal will not count.

##### **B. Regular Season Champions**

1. The regular season championship shall be determined by the games played between member teams in good standing and shall be determined on the basis of two (2) points for each win and one (1) point for each tie.
2. Should two (2) or more teams finish the season with equal numbers of points their positions in the standings shall be determined by the following consideration:
  - a. Points earned in head-to-head competition.
  - b. Goals against in head-to-head competition.
  - c. Goals against in all games against voting member teams, in their respective divisions.
  - d. The fewest penalty minutes incurred during the regular season games against member teams in good standing, in their respective divisions.
  - e. If necessary, to determine qualification for playoffs, by a one game playoff.

##### **C. Statistics**

1. Published LVSHL standings shall show games won, lost, and tied, points earned in division play and LVSHL championship play.

##### **D. Notice to Reschedule**

1. Once the scheduling is completed and posted onto the website, or other officially designated platform, no game may be rescheduled without the prior permission of the LVSHL President, or

their designee, and the agreement of both clubs making the change.

2. If permission is granted, a fee of \$150.00 will be assessed to the team requesting a scheduling change within 28 days of the game.
3. After receiving permission to reschedule a game from the LVSHL President, or their designee, game changes must be sent to the Master Scheduler via e-mail, with confirmation by both teams, not less than three (3) days prior to the affected game, by the team requesting the change.
4. Any change to the schedule must be communicated through the League Scheduler and the teams changing the game must agree to pay for any ice and officials' fees that cannot be cancelled, in addition to the aforementioned fine.
5. If teams cannot agree on who is responsible for the potential unused ice and/or officiating fees, the game shall not be moved.
6. All games shall be re-scheduled to comply with the Leagues end of season date.
7. If games are not played as per the League schedule, a forfeit victory shall be awarded to the non-offending team as determined by the Commissioner.
8. All communications must be in writing to the League Scheduler and shall have both clubs copied.

#### **E. Forfeits**

1. Forfeiture of a league game will result in a \$550 fine to the offending club.

### **XV. LVSHL PLAYOFFS/ALL STAR GAMES**

#### **A. Qualifying Teams**

1. Only member teams in good standing may qualify for playoffs, in their respective divisions.
2. To participate, a team must certify to the Board of Directors that:
  - a. It will play all games required of it under the LVSHL playoff format.
  - b. If the playoff winner is eligible to go on to an area and/or state championship play, it will represent the LVSHL, and play all games required of it in such an area and/or state championship play.
3. A member representative from each playing team, shall be assigned to keep the game clock at all varsity playoff and championship games.

#### **B. Playoff Structure**

1. LVSHL playoff structure at the Varsity level shall be at the discretion of the Board of Directors at the regularly scheduled October meeting.

### **C. Playoff Games**

1. All playoff games will be played to a conclusion regardless of the elapsed game time, unless stopped by the game officials.
2. Tie games:
  - a. If a playoff game is tied at the end of regulation time, the teams will continue to play SEVENTEEN (17) minute sudden death overtime periods, at five (5) on five (5) on ice strength until the game is decided.
  - b. There shall be a one (1) minute break prior to each overtime period.
  - c. The game officials may end the game at the conclusion of the overtime period if the game is still tied, if they determine that it would be in the best interest of the players to do so.
    - i. Only the participants in the original game are eligible for the makeup or continued game.

### **D. Ice Time**

- E. 1. The LVSHL shall purchase a two (2) hour ice slot for all varsity playoff games, championship games, and All-Star game.

### **Participation Requirements**

1. The Board of Directors shall determine the requirements for the participation in the Varsity All-Star game.

## **XVI. APPEALS AND GRIEVANCES**

### **A. Process of Appeals**

1. All appeals and protests to be considered official must be presented in writing or email to the Secretary, by any means.
2. All appeals and protests will cost fifty dollars (\$50.00).
  - a. All appeals and protests must be presented from the member club delegate, alternate, or coach.

- b. This fee must be presented prior to the appeal/protest hearing.
  - c. Only if the appeal or protest is won will the established fee be returned.
3. All appeals or protests must be presented to the LVSHL within forty-eight (48) hours of the ruling and must also be presented to the commissioner by the secretary within twenty-four (24) hours of receipt.
4. If the Commissioner is unobtainable, the President will assume all responsibilities of the Commissioner.
5. The Commissioner and/or appointed Disciplinary Committee must rule upon all appeals and protests within seven (7) days upon receipt of the protest.

## **XVII. RISK MANAGEMENT**

### **A. Mandatory Equipment**

1. As per USA Hockey guidelines.

## **XVIII. PURITY RULINGS**

### **A. Conference/Divisions**

1. The Board of Directors shall determine conferences and/or divisions prior to the start of play of every LVSHL season.

### **B. Schedules/Playoffs**

1. The LVSHL regular season schedule and playoff structure shall be determined by the Board of Directors prior to the start of play of every LVSHL season at the regularly scheduled September and October meetings, respectively.

### **C. Eligibility**

1. Only pure teams are eligible for participation in any additional regional championships and/or state championship play.
  - a. If regional or state championship play requires the entry of multiple teams from the LVSHL at the AAA, AA, and A levels, it shall be the responsibility of the President to determine the entrants that meet the criteria as established by the tournament committee.

## **XIX. DIRECTOR OF OFFICIATING**

- A. The Director of Officiating shall be responsible for overseeing the relationship with the local officiating

association in all regards, including payment terms and performance of officials. This person, or their designee within the local officials' association, will also assign the game officials for all LVSHL league games as well as furnish the Local Area Officiating Supervisor with a list of officials assigned to the games a minimum of (2) two weeks, preferably (4) weeks, before the scheduled games to ensure that the USA Hockey Training and Evaluation staff can be an integral part of our league. This schedule shall also be sent to the LVSHL President and Secretary.

- B. The Director of Officiating must be a properly registered USA Hockey Official that has the credentials to work any game that he/she is assigning.
- C. The Director of Officiating shall not, solely by nature of this position, be called upon to provide rule interpretations under the Rules of USA Hockey. All such interpretations shall be directed to the Local Area Supervisor.
- D. The Director of Officiating shall not be a voting member of the Executive Committee; his/her purpose shall be to serve the league and act as a point of reference to the member clubs.

## **XX. REVISION HISTORY**

January 1991  
February 1991  
January 1994  
October 1997  
October 2000  
September 2001  
September 2002  
September 2003  
September 2004  
September 2005  
September 2006  
September 2007  
September 2008  
September 2009  
September 2010  
September 2011  
November 2011  
January 2012  
June 2012  
September 2013  
May 2015  
June 2016  
June 2017  
May 2018  
May 2019  
June 2020  
June 2021  
July 2022  
August 2023  
August 2024  
August 2025

